
 
   

 

 
  Date of Publication 9 November 2021 

Stronger Communities  
Committee Meeting of Witney Town Council 
 

Monday, 15th November, 2021 at 6.00 pm 
 
To members of the Stronger Communities Committee - O Collins, L Ashbourne, J Aitman, R Bolger, D Butterfield, 
H Eaglestone, V Gwatkin and A Prosser (and all other Town Councillors for information).  
 

You are hereby summonsed to the above meeting to be held in the Gallery Room, The Corn Exchange, Witney 
for the transaction of the business stated in the agenda below.  
 

Admission to Meetings 
 

All Council meetings are open to the public and press unless otherwise stated. 
 

Numbers of the public will be limited, with priority given to those who have registered to speak on an item on 
the agenda. Any member of the public wishing to attend the meeting should contact the Democratic and Legal 
Services Officer ( democracy@witney-tc.gov.uk ) in advance to reserve a seat. 
 

We will continue to observe social distancing and hand sanitiser will be available. 
 

For further information or clarification regarding the meeting contact the Democratic and Legal Services Officer 
at democracy@witney-tc.gov.uk  Tel: 01993 226071 
 

Recording of Meetings 
 

Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 the council’s public meetings may be 
recorded, which includes filming, audio-recording as well as photography.  
 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings, please let the Town Clerk or 
Democratic Services Officer know before the start of the meeting. 
 

Agenda 
 
1. Apologies for absence   

 To consider apologies and reasons for absence. 
 
Committee members who are unable to attend the meeting should notify the Democratic & Legal 
Services Officer ( democracy@witney-tc.gov.uk ) prior to the meeting, stating the reason for absence. 
 
Standing Order 30(a)(v) permits the appointment of substitute Councillors to a Committee whose role 
is to replace ordinary Councillors at a meeting of a Committee if ordinary Councillors of the Committee 
have confirmed to the Proper Officer before the meeting that they are unable to attend. 
 

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests in any items under consideration 
at this meeting in accordance with the Town Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8) 

 a) To adopt and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2021; 
 
b) Matters arising from the minutes not covered elsewhere on the agenda. (Questions on the 

progress of any item). 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

mailto:democracy@witney-tc.gov.uk
mailto:democracy@witney-tc.gov.uk
mailto:%20democracy@witney-tc.gov.uk


 
 

Mrs Sharon Groth  
FSLCC fCMgr 
Town Clerk 
 
 
Cllr Joy Aitman 
Mayor of Witney 

Town Hall, Market Square 
Witney, Oxon 
OX28 6AG 
T: 01993 704379 
F: 01993 771893 
info@witney-tc.gov.uk 
www.witney-tc.gov.uk 

4. Public Participation   

 The meeting will adjourn for this item. 
 
Members of the public may speak for a maximum of five minutes each during the period of public 
participation, in line with Standing Order 42.  Matters raised shall relate to the following items on the 
agenda. 
 

Street Furniture & Infrastructure 
 
5. Public Benches - West Oxfordshire District Council Requests  (Pages 9 - 14) 

 To receive and consider additional town centre public bench requests from West Oxfordshire District 
Council, funded by the Welcome Back Fund. 
 

6. Open Spaces Infrastructure  (Pages 15 - 26) 

 To consider the report of the Maintenance & Environmental Services Officer. 
 

7. Tower Hill Bus Stop Improvements  (Pages 27 - 30) 

 To consider the report of the Project Officer. 
 

8. Oxfordshire Bus Service Improvement Plan  (Pages 31 - 32) 

 To consider the report of the Deputy Town Clerk. 
 

Communications & Community Engagement 
 
9. In-Bloom Competitions  (Pages 33 - 60) 

 To receive and consider the report of the Communications & Community Engagement Officer. 
 

10. Communications & Community Engagement Report  (Pages 61 - 68) 

 To consider the report of the Communications & Community Engagement Officer. Appended to the 
report are the minutes of the Witney Forum held on 14 September 2021.  
 

11. Grant Aid to Local Organisations  (Pages 69 - 70) 

 To consider a grant application from Witney Twinning Association. 
 

Budget 
 
12. Budget  (Pages 71 - 80) 

 To receive and consider the report of the Town Clerk  
 

 
 
 

 
Town Clerk 

 

Page 2

mailto:info@witney-tc.gov.uk


 
1 

 

STRONGER COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE MEETING OF THE 
WITNEY TOWN COUNCIL 

 
Held on Monday, 20 September 2021 

 
At 6.00 pm in the Main Hall, The Corn Exchange, Witney 

 
Present: 

 
Councillor O Collins (Chair) 

 
Councillors: J Aitman 

D Butterfield 
 

V Gwatkin 
A Prosser 
 

Officers: Adam Clapton Deputy Town Clerk 
 Sharon Groth Town Clerk 
 Simon Wright Democratic & Legal Services Officer 

 
Others: 5 members of the public. 

Councillor Ruth Smith 
 

 
SC471   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors L Ashbourne, R Bolger and H Eaglestone. 
 

SC472   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor O Collins declared a personal non-prejudicial interest in Agenda Item No. 9 – Youth 
Services Grants 2021 by virtue of knowing one of the applicants. 

 
Councillor J Aitman declared a personal non-prejudicial interest in Agenda Item No 9 – Youth 
Services Grants 2021 by virtue of two of the applicants being the Mayor’s charities for the 
current year. 
 

SC473   MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 19 July 2021 were adopted and signed as a correct record by 
the Chair. 

 
There were no matters arising. 
 

SC474   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
The Committee adjourned for this item. 

 
Julie Edwards & Marion Harley representing Got2B, Jon Berry from Oxon Music & Arts Trust and 
Kelly Gough & Barry Ingleton of Synolos addressed the committee in respect of Agenda Item No. 
9 – Youth Services Grants. 
 

The Committee reconvened following public participation. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Stronger Communities - 20 September 2021 

 
2 

 
SC475   COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

 
The committee considered the report of the Town Clerk providing an update to Members on the 
Committee’s work plan. The report also sought consideration of any future/additional projects 
to be put forward for the budget setting cycle. 

 
Clarification was given that the defibrillators on council land were regularly inspected and 
maintained. It was further reported that the provision of a new defibrillator at Ducklington Lake 
was being progressed. Members were advised that agreement for the siting of a cycle repair 
stand near the Town Hall had been received from Oxfordshire County Council. 
 
The committee were notified that permission from the Diocese of Oxford to undertake works to 
the pillbox on Langel Common had been received and an application could be made to Historic 
England for works to be carried out. However, there was no budget and the structure wasn’t in 
very good repair. During discussion it was suggested that any planting scheme would need to be 
carefully managed to avoid further damage to the structure. It was also considered that some 
sort of information plaque/barcode highlighting the structure could be put in place. Members 
favoured the second option. 
 
It was agreed that the matter be discussed with Historic England and a project progressed from 
there based on the outcomes. 
 
In respect of budget items, it was clarified that the Platinum Jubilee Working Party would 
establish proposed expenditure at its first meeting. A suggestion of providing books about 
sustainability to local schools was made and it was agreed that details would be provided to the 
Town Clerk for consideration. 
 
Resolved: 
 

1. That, options for the WW11 Pill Box Project be progressed with Historic England and 
delegated to the Town Clerk to approve; and 
 

2. That, the provision of books on sustainability be considered as part of the budget setting 
process. 

 
SC476   SALT BINS 

 
Members considered the report of the Deputy Town Clerk seeking requests for new salt bins in 
Witney. It was clarified that nay new bin would cost the Town council £250 and these would be 
filled once by Oxfordshire County Council with any topping up being done by the Town Council. 
It was noted that a budget of £1000 was allocated for the bins. 

 
Members noted that the bins were provided for roads. It was suggested that a bin on Dark Lane 
would be beneficial, and this was agreed. The provision of bins along the path connecting 
Madley Park and Oxford Hill were highlighted as a possible site. It was suggested and agreed that 
Oxfordshire County Council be approached about providing these bins as part of the Active 
Travel route. If this was not possible then the remaining budget could be used to facilitate this. 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



Stronger Communities - 20 September 2021 

 
3 

Resolved: 
 

1. That, a request for the provision of a new salt bin in Dark Lane be supported; and 
 

2. That, Oxfordshire County Council be requested to provide three salt bins on the path 
linking Madley Park with Oxford Hill as part of the Active travel scheme; and 
 

3. That, if the request above is not supported the remaining Town Council budget be used 
to provide the bins. 

 
SC477   TOWER HILL BUS STOP IMPROVEMENTS 

 
The Chair gave an update on discussions that he and Councillor Smith had held with local 
residents regarding the provision of a new bus shelter on Tower Hill. The committee was advised 
that there was opposition to the proposal from some local residents. 

 
The committee was requested to consider how to progress the bus stop improvements as part 
of the developer funding package. It was noted that the Town Council could continue with 
providing a shelter, not progressing the project and leaving Oxfordshire County Council to 
consider the matter or providing a bench only with no shelter. 
 
During discussion the committee considered the financial implications, lack of detailed 
passenger usage figures, restrictions on the usage of developer funding and the objections of 
local residents. 
 
Members considered the various options and on being put to the vote it was agreed that the 
Town Council should continue with the bus shelter project with a sedum roof bus shelter subject 
to further discussions with Oxfordshire County Council. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That, Witney Town council continues with the bus shelter project on Tower Hill subject to 
further discussions between Oxfordshire County council and input from local residents on the 
agreed scheme. 
 

SC478   COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 2022 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Communications and Community Engagement 
Officer regarding events, additional to the regular calendar, that the council may wish to support 
in 2022. 

 
Members considered the list, and it was suggested and agreed that World Environment Day 
should be removed as it was not as specific or targeted as some of the other environmental 
days. In addition, it was agreed to remove Screen Free Week. It was further advised that a 
volunteering event was also proposed in conjunction with Volunteer Link Up. 
 
In considering the financial implications it was resolved to request an increase in the budget to 
£3000 to cover costs. 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



Stronger Communities - 20 September 2021 

 
4 

Resolved: 
 

1. That, the list of additional events for 2022, as amended, be approved; and  
 

2. That, Council be recommended to approve an increase in the events budget to £3000 for 
2022. 

 
SC479   YOUTH SERVICES GRANT 2021 

 
The Committee considered five applications for funding from the Youth Services Grants together 
with the submissions that had been made under public participation. The committee noted that 
the grant totals requested totalled £52,000 which exceeded the £30,000 that was allocated. It 
was noted that any decisions would be recommendations to the Policy, Governance & Finance 
Committee. 

 
Clarification was sought regarding the unused grant for the Witney Music Festival. It was advised 
that a recommendation on use of that funding could be made to Policy, Governance & Finance 
Committee who would consider grants at its forthcoming meeting. 
 
During discussion it was agreed that all the applicants were worthy causes that supported young 
people in the town. It was considered that the application from Buttercross Theatre was for 
scholarships so would only benefit individuals rather than the community. It was agreed that 
their application could be considered under the discretionary grant scheme and via Witney 
Educational Foundation. 
 
Members considered options for distributing the budget between the remaining four 
organisations including giving a percentage of the requested amounts to each. The criteria for 
the grants was outlined and options for transferring budgets was discussed. 
 
It was agreed that a request for the unused £9,750 previously allocated to Witney Music Festival 
to be added to the Youth Grants Fund be made making a total allocation of £39,750. In respect 
of the applications, it was agreed that the grant fund be split on an equitable percentage basis 
between the applicants. 
 
Recommended: 
 

1. That, the application by Buttercross Theatre Group be referred to the Policy, 
Governance & Finance Committee for consideration under the discretionary grant 
scheme;  
 

2. That, Policy, Governance & Finance Committee consider the reallocation of the £9,750 
previously awarded to Witney Music Festival to the Youth Grants Awards; and 
 

3. That, the youth Grants budget be allocated to Got2Be, Home Start Oxford, Oxfordshire 
Music & Arts Trust and Synolos on an equitable percentage basis. 

 
SC480   CITIZEN OF THE YEAR AWARD 2021 

 
Consideration was given to the report of the Communications and Community Engagement 
Officer requesting whether to reinstate the awards. It was noted that last year the Council ran 
the Covid-19 Witney Hero awards as an alternative. 

 

Page 6



Stronger Communities - 20 September 2021 

 
5 

Members expressed their support for the awards but acknowledged that nominations had been 
fairly low in 2019. It was agreed that promotion of the awards was essential and clarification was 
given that organisations could also be nominated. It was suggested that the scheme should be 
reviewed in due course to ascertain its success. 
 
Resolved: 
 

1. That, the Citizen of the Year Award for 2021 be supported on the basis outlined in the 
report; and 

2. That, the awards be presented at a Civic Reception to be held in early 2022; and 
 

3. That, the award scheme be reviewed after this year. 
 

SC481   REMEMBRANCE 2021 
 
The report of the Venue & Events Officer updating on arrangements for Remembrance Day was 
received and considered. 

 
Member expressed support for the proposed arrangements and noted that the event would be 
different to most years with limited marching and wreath laying. Officers advised there were 
some still details to be confirmed. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That, the arrangements for Remembrance Day be noted. 
 

SC482   CHRISTMAS LIGHTS SWITCH ON 
 
The Town Clerk advised members of the arrangements for the Christmas lights switch on which 
was organised by the Rotary Club and grant aided by the council. 

 
It was reported that an approach had been made by the Rotary Club for the Town Council to 
accept liability for the event as there were concerns about reputational risk if a Covid outbreak 
was linked to it. Clarification was given that there were no financial implications. Members 
considered that as organisers of the event the Rotary Club should accept liability. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That, the request from the Rotary Club for the Town council to take liability for the Christmas 
lights switch on be refused. 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at: 8.00 pm 

 
Chair 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



STRONGER COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 

Date:  Monday, 15 November 2021 

Title:  Public Benches – West Oxfordshire District Council Requests 

Contact Officer:  Deputy Town Clerk – Adam Clapton 

 

Purpose of the Report 

To resolve whether to accept ownership and ongoing maintenance for public benches being 

proposed by West Oxfordshire District Council. 

Background 

Town and Parish Council’s have the power to provide public benches under the Parish 

Council’s Act 1957 s1. 

Current Situation 

The proposal from West Oxfordshire District Council is to install up to four benches in Bridge 

Street, High Street and Market Square to encourage shoppers to the town centre and make 

it a more welcoming place (attached as appendices to this report). 

The Town Council’s Customer Satisfaction survey in 2017 focused on benches and found that 

residents were desirous of new benches being installed in town centre areas.  

Open Spaces Strategy 

If accepted, the proposal would help towards discharging Open Spaces Strategy action plan 

references IS5 (Improving and Investing in our Infra-Structure Provision) and EE2 (Working in 

the most Effective & Efficient Manner). 

Environmental impact 

The installation of additional benches in the town centre helps to promote and facilitate 

active travel in Witney for all ages.  

Risk 

In decision making Councillors should consider any risks to the Council and any action it can 

take to limit or negate its liability. 

Members may like to consider whether these requests meet the proposed Memorial Bench 

Policy criteria, also being considered by this Committee to provide a consistent approach in 

the future. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



Financial implications 

 If agreed, the proposal would increase the number of public benches at no additional 

capital cost to Witney Town Council. The benches are being funded from the District 

Council’s ‘Welcome Back Fund’ 

 The Council would be subject to ongoing maintenance costs, including repair and staffing 

resources which are difficult to assess at this time. 

 The Council may be subject to replacement costs, currently approximately £500 per 

bench, this dependent on the nature of any agreement.  

Recommendations 

Members are invited to note the report and consider the following: 

 Approval that Witney Town Council accepts ownership of the proposed benches, and 

therefore ongoing maintenance costs for the proposed benches in line with a Memorial 

Bench Policy, once adopted. 

Page 10



Suggestion 1: Bridge Street – a straight bench backing on to the wall by the River Windrush 
 
Coordinates: 51°47'21.1"N 1°28'57.9"W 
 

 

 

Suggestion 2: Outside 53 High St, Witney OX28 6JA. We could choose any type of bench/es, here are 
a couple of suggestions: 
 

 Double sided: https://www.baileystreetscene.co.uk/double-sided-woking-seat 

 Planter/seating: https://www.baileystreetscene.co.uk/clarkson-planter or 
https://www.street-design.com/48pseating.html  

 A couple of standard benches: https://www.broxap.com/eastgate-seat.html  
 
Coordinates: 51°47'14.4"N 1°29'02.8"W 
 

 

Page 11

https://www.baileystreetscene.co.uk/double-sided-woking-seat
https://www.baileystreetscene.co.uk/clarkson-planter
https://www.street-design.com/48pseating.html
https://www.broxap.com/eastgate-seat.html


This page is intentionally left blank



Proposed location of the benches

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



STRONGER COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 

Date:  Monday, 15 November 2021 

Title:  Open Spaces Infrastructure 

Contact Officer:  Maintenance & Environmental Services Officer - Angus Whitburn 

 

Background 

The Council’s Open Spaces Strategy was formally adopted on 28th June and reference IS5 

(Improving and investing in our infrastructure provision) of the associated Action Plan is to 

‘undertake an audit of current litter bins, dog waste bins, signage, seating, fencing, bus 

shelters and other associated infrastructure with a view to drawing up a corporate 

replacement and upgrade plan, to include policies relating to the installation and adoption of 

infrastructure on non-WTC land.’ 

The creation of new policies for memorial benches and tree planting request’s have been 

finished and are attached for consideration prior to adoption by the Council. Certain elements 

of these could be drafted across to further developing policies to help with the unity of all 

infrastructure requests.  

Current Situation 

Dog Waste Bins 

Except for the Lake and Country Park, the dog waste bins across the rest of the Town Council’s 

estate and Witney were installed and are emptied by West Oxfordshire District Council via 

their contractors Ubico.  

All requests for new or additional bins from residents are forwarded to the Town Council 

regardless of the proposed location, as it has the power to install waste bins as town/parish 

Council. The Town Council is then responsible for installation and ongoing emptying costs – 

these currently cost the council £417.26 (excl. VAT) and £667.00 per annum to empty. 

There are currently two dual purpose bins installed on non-Town Council land, Woodford Mill 

and Newland/Court Gardens where it pays the above emptying costs. There are currently four 

old requests and two new ones on hold to the Town Council, all for dog waste bins also not 

on Town Council land.  

A policy should list out clear criteria for a request to be considered such as the following; 

 Multiple residents individually request a dog waste bin within a set area. 

 Those requests are all received within a set period. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 The Town Council will only consider a request for installation on land owned by the 

Town Council.  

Further detail then needs including to give officers clear guidance on where dog waste bins 

are best suited and if alternative solutions can be found for requests.  

 Waste bins are available but need correct signage needs retrofitting and a review is 

set in place to see if it elevates the problem.  

 Are dog waste bins already in place near clear walking paths and would moving one 

help. 

The Town Council’s  waste and recycling bins are not signed correctly do take dog waste. The 

next order of bins has been requested to include this signage.  

Waste & Recycling Bins 

The Town Council’s current process is replacing all single-stream waste bins with dual-stream 

recycling and waste bins, this process is almost complete across Town Council land. Additional 

bins have been installed in certain locations and areas have been condensed down, for 

example, Burwell recreation ground has been reduced from three single waste bins to two 

waste and recycling bins, more strategically placed. 

Bins have been installed based on prior location, requests from residents, sports teams and 

noticeable litter problems raised by councillor's or officers. Again, clear points need defining 

for a request to be considered additionally points that need council discussion and direction 

if to be included are.  

 Should bins be a set distance from each other. 

 Proximity to seating. 

 A number should be available in a certain square meterage of recreation grounds and 

play areas. 

 If the current bin model/design needs reviewing.  

Benches 

Most new benches installed are memorial benches which the memorial bench policy covers. 

Additional detail is needed around available seating in a set area and definition on when a 

bench needs refurbishment or replacing. Some recommended points are below for council 

consideration.  

 A flat area of hard standing is installed by every bench for wheelchair users. Or should 

this be based on 50% of all benches installed in an area that will have a hard standing 

area for wheelchair users. 

 The direction a bench should face. 

 The installation process, Root fixed to avoid the use of concrete, reduced size concrete 

pads or a form of tiling.  

Page 16



 Style of benches installed. Currently, the council install Eastgate benches which are 

hard wearing and easy to refurbish but should wooden benches or recycled plastic 

benches be considered in certain areas.  

 Benches will only be installed adjoining footpaths to make them as accessible as 

possible. 

Environmental impact 

Having declared a Climate Change Emergency at its Council meeting on 26 June 2019 – with 

this in mind Councillors should have due regard to the environmental impact of any decisions 

they make with regard to its facilities and services it operates. 

To avoid wasteful practices policies should be directed in a way that encourages 

refurbishment and relocation of what we currently have in place. 

Risk 

In decision making Councillors should give consideration to any risks to the Council and any 

action it can take to limit or negate its liability.  

Financial implications 

Described here or as stated in the report above.  

 The cost of installing additional dog waste/litter bins is considerable and any request 

should be carefully considered. 

 There is a street furniture replacement budget that covers roughly three bins and two 

benches each year. If policies are directed in such a way to increase the number of 

benches and bins this needs to be reviewed.  

Recommendations 

Member are invited to note the report and consider the following: 

1. Councillors are asked to have their input and guide officers on how they would like 

infrastructure policies drafted and,  

2. Councillors are asked to decide that if it is the responsibility of the Town Council to install 

and maintain street furniture, not on its land referencing dog waste/litter bin requests 

and, 

3. Review the Memorial Bench policy and Memorial Tree policy and discuss any additions or 

changes required before adoption.  

 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Creator: Angus Whitburn Created on: 10/09/2021 Review Date: 
 

Witney Town Council 

 

Memorial Bench Policy 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Witney Town Council understands the wishes of anyone wishing to install a memorial 

bench. These benches also form part of Witney Town Councils Street furniture and benefit 

all the residents of Witney.  

1.2. The policy does not cover the application for memorial benches in Tower Hill and Windrush 

Cemetery. 

2. Purpose 

2.1. The purpose of this policy is to address the below 3 principles. 

2.1.1. To be respectful of those seeking to install a memorial bench. 

2.1.2. To ensure benches are maintained and kept functional. 

2.1.3. To keep benches in keeping within the areas they have been installed and benefit the 

wider community.   

3. Review 

3.1. The document will be reviewed every 3 years from the date of creation. 

    

4. Locations 

4.1. Only suitable seating locations that benefit the wider community will be considered.  

4.2. Only sites with space for additional benches will be considered.  This is to avoid any site 

becoming overpopulated with street furniture including bike racks, bins and picnic benches.  

4.3. No one area can become overly populated with memorial benches to ensure that area does 

not become a memorial area. This is to avoid compromising the areas enjoyment for 

recreation purposes.  

 

5. Bench Styles 

 

5.1. Witney Town Council will only install Eastgate benches for memorial applications. 

5.1.1. The only exception to this is if an Eastgate Bench is not seen as not innkeeping within 

the area. In this instance, a suitable style bench will be identified by a council officer 

for installation. 

5.2. All Eastgate Benches are manufactured with timber slats treated with clear or dark varnish.  

5.2.1. The colour of the varnish selected will be based on the area of installation. 

5.2.2. Recycled plastic slats are available for purchase but will only be supplied at an 

additional cost to the applicant. They will also need to be in keeping with the area of 

installation and other street furniture.  

5.2.3. The council may adapt its standing on the purchase of recycled products, and this 

could include all-new benches to be installed with recycled plastic slats. In the case of 

this, the cost of recycled plastic slat’s will be included on all invoices and the choice of 

wooden slats will not be offered.  

Page 19



Creator: Angus Whitburn Created on: 10/09/2021 Review Date: 
 

5.3. The cast iron ends of an Eastgate bench can be supplied in different colours and applicants 

are asked on the application form to identify if they want a specific colour that is not the 

standard Jet Black. Witney Town council will advise applicants if the colour is suitable.  

5.4. The colour must be in keeping with the area, closely situated street furniture, play 

equipment and buildings. 

6. Bespoke designs 

6.1. In exceptional cases, it will be decided by the council if a bespoke design bench will be 

installed. 

6.2. A case would have to be made by an applicant that an officer will take to the council for 

approval. 

6.3. All other areas of this policy would still be applicable. If a location isn’t identified and 

agreed upon by an officer in line with this policy, then any application for a bespoke design 

will be rejected. 

6.4. If it is agreed that a bespoke design bench is installed, then the council will not include this 

bench in its street furniture stock, and it will only receive basically maintenance typically 

limited to cleaning.   

6.5. For all maintenance issues, the original applicant will be contacted to cover the cost of 

maintenance. 

6.6. If a bespoke bench has significant health and safety risks and the applicant is unwilling to 

cover the cost it will then be removed.  

7. Installation 

7.1. Benches will be installed on a concrete pad or grassed, in areas of low wear. Typically, 

beaches will be installed in the same process as all other benches in one area. 

8. Maintenance  

8.1. Once a bench has been installed it will be included in Witney Town Council Street furniture 

stock and be maintained by the council. 

8.2. Periodic maintenance will fall in line with all other benches and extra maintenance won’t be 

supplied for memorial benches. 

8.3. Benches are periodically refurbished which includes repairing/replacing broken slats, 

weather treating and re-painting the cast iron ends.  

8.4. While a memorial bench is being refurbished, no bench will be installed in its place.  

8.5. If a bench end has been painted in anything other than jet black, then there is no guarantee 

that the same colour will be re-applied. Witney town council will endeavour to colour 

match the original colour as best as possible. 

8.6. Plaques will be cleaned and polished when a bench is being refurbished. 

8.7. If the bench has graffiti or excessive bird guano over it will be sanded or jet washed down in 

its current location. 

 

9. Memorial Plaque 

9.1. Plaques can be no larger than 20cm x 4cm, this fits onto one timber slat. 

9.2. All plaques are installed on the second from the top slat in the centre. 

9.3. All text has to be contained within one plaque  

9.4. Memorial plaques can be supplied in different materials, listed below. The material can be 

selected on the application form.  

9.4.1. Bronze 

9.4.2. Aluminium 

9.4.3. Stainless Steel 

Page 20



Creator: Angus Whitburn Created on: 10/09/2021 Review Date: 
 

9.5. There may be the case when an applicant who purchases a bench wishes to install an 

additional plaque or replace the installed plaque with a new one.  

9.5.1. In the case of a replacement plaque, an officer would have to agree on any new 

wording and it will be ordered and installed. The applicant will be invoiced accordingly 

including all resources required.  

9.5.1.1. Only the original applicant or in the case of the applicant passing away a first-

degree relative can make such a request. 

9.5.1.2. The old plaque can be returned or disposed of. 

9.5.2. Additional plaques are not permitted to avoid a memorial bench becoming too 

cluttered and too personal, affecting the enjoyment of the area by other users.   

 

10. Removal and Future Ownership   

10.1. If the case arises that a memorial bench has to be removed it will be stored complete with 

plaque until a new location can be identified for its reinstallation. 

10.1.1. This included the relocation based on a high level of complaints replated to one 

bench. This could be that a bench location has bought anti-social behaviour to the 

area. Council officers will include this in the thought process of any bench location but 

it cannot be completely avoided.   

10.2. All efforts will be made to work with the original applicant to find a suitable new location. 

10.3. Applicants must understand that officers will identify a new location in line with this policy 

so it may be the case that only one new location can be offered of which an applicant can 

accept or reject.  

10.3.1. If rejected the bench will be installed in the new location without a memorial 

plaque.    

10.4. If a plaque is lost, stolen or damaged the council will not cover the cost of a replacement. 

10.4.1. The original applicant will be contacted to arrange the replacement of the plaque. 

10.4.2. If no contact can be made in a period that is deemed sufficient then the bench will 

be returned into witney town council standard street furniture stock. 

10.4.3. This could involve the future removal of the bench and a new memorial bench 

installed in the area.    

       

11.  Procedure for Application and Installation 

  

11.1. Anyone wishing to make an application can source an application form online or at the 

Witney Town Council offices. 

11.2. The application form must then be submitted via email to facilities@witney-tc.gov.uk or via 

post to Witney Town Council, 51B Market Square, Witney OX28 6AG address to Facilities.  

11.3. An applicant will then be advised if their application has been accepted or reject and on 

what grounds. If rejected this will normally be the location and/or the number of memorial 

items in one site.  

11.4. Communication will then be held between an applicant on the final position of the 

memorial bench, colour, and memorial plaque detail.  

11.5. The applicant is then invoiced for payment which includes the bench, plaque, work hours 

and materials required to install.  

11.6. Once Witney Town council received payment a bench along with a plaque will then be 

ordered. 

11.7. During this time the concrete base will be installed for fixing if needed. 

11.8. The applicant will then be made aware of the install date. 

Page 21

mailto:facilities@witney-tc.gov.uk


Creator: Angus Whitburn Created on: 10/09/2021 Review Date: 
 

11.9. The location of memorial benches along with details will be stored on Witney Town Council 

Mapping Software.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



Creator: Angus Whitburn Created on: 10/09/2021 Review Date: 
 

Witney Town Council 

 

Memorial Tree Policy 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Witney Town Council understands the wishes of anyone wishing to plant a memorial tree. 

The council will consider requests for trees to be planted on its land only. The application 

for a memorial tree must be seen as the donation of a tree to the town of Witney and not a 

personal memorial.  

1.2. The policy is also intended to address the donation of trees not intended to be in memory 

of lost one.  

 

2. Purpose 

2.1. The purpose of this policy is to address the below points. 

2.1.1. To be respectful of those seeking to plant a memorial tree. 

2.1.2. To ensure trees are maintained, in keeping with the area and will not cause future 

problems once matured.    

2.1.3. Enhance the enjoyment of the area by all users. 

2.1.4. Support  

3. Review 

3.1. The document will be reviewed every 3 years from the date of creation. 

 

4. Tree Species & Planting Locations 

4.1. Witney Town Council officers will select an appropriate tree for an area it is to be planted. 

The below factors will all be considered when selected a species.  

4.1.1.  Mature height and spread of the tree. 

4.1.2. Species of other trees in the area. It may be necessary to add trees with autumn 

colours or that provide berries or nuts for wildlife.   

4.1.3. Replacement of recently felled trees or trees that have been identified to be near the 

end of their lifespan.  

4.1.4. Sun level requirements of species. 

4.1.5. Witney Town council restrictions or management plans in any one area. 

4.1.5.1. Native British species in Windrush Cemetary. 

4.1.5.2. Creation of an arboretum at Tower Hill Cemetary. 

4.1.5.3. Lake and Country Park clearing of overgrowth from felled trees and coppicing.  

4.1.6. The below factors are all considered with planting locations.  

4.1.6.1. Proximity to properties. 

4.1.6.2. Nearby installations that could be affected by root growth. 

4.1.6.3. Underground services. 

4.1.6.4. Accessible to be watered. 

4.1.7. Tree locations on offer for each planting season may only be based on where trees 

have been felled or where planting projects locations have been identified.  

Page 23



Creator: Angus Whitburn Created on: 10/09/2021 Review Date: 
 

 

5. Mainaitnace  

5.1. Trees will be assessed every 5 years by an external surveyor. 

5.1.1. Surveyors will recommend works to a tree that will be carried out in the timeframe 

recommended by the surveyor. These works would be seen as essential and the 

applicant of the tree will not be made aware of these works to avoid delay in 

maintenance and care for trees.  

5.2. Outside of the 5 years assessments, it may be the case that an officer from Witney Town 

Council trained in tree surveying may also recommend necessary works. 

 

6. Planting 

6.1. All trees will be planted in line with Witney Town Council tree planting processes.  

6.1.1.  Three-times the volume of the rootball is excavated and loosened 

6.1.2. A suitable soil conditioner is used to increase the survival rate in the first year of 

planting. 

6.1.3. The tree is then planted and topped with a mulch layer to help aid soil moisture 

6.1.4. All necessary tree planting accessories are then installed tree stakes and ties, irrigation 

accessories and tree guard. 

6.1.5. Based on the area a tree is being planted and value or a tee a suitable tree guard will 

be installed. This would include one of the solutions below.  

6.1.5.1. Full steel tree guard. 

6.1.5.2. Staked galvanised mesh. 

6.1.5.3. Biodegradable plastic-free tree shelter guard. 

6.1.6. Irrigation accessories can include the following and will be installed based on the tree 

size requirements to give it the best chance of survival.  

6.1.6.1. Irrigation bags 

6.1.6.2. Tree irrigation rings 

6.1.7. Tree stakes and ties are installed based on the size of the tree. 

 

7. Tree Donation 

7.1. It may be the case that a person or persons wish to donate a tree to Witney Town Council. 

In this event, all items in this policy that are relevant will be considered. 

7.2. A tree donation can come in the form of payment for Witney Town Council to purchase a 

tree or a physical tree that has been grown by the donator.  

 

8. Memorial Plaques 

8.1. Memorial plaques will not be permitted on or near any memorial trees. 

8.2. If an applicant chooses to install a plaque on or near a tree then it will be removed by 

Witney Town Council staff. 

 

9. Removal  

9.1. In the rare case, a tree has to be removed all efforts will be made to relocate it.  

9.1.1. Relocation will only be possible when the tree is dormant (early spring and autumn) 

and if it is of a manageable size.  

9.1.2. A location will be identified in line with this policy and the original applicant will be 

made aware of the new location. 

9.2. If a tree has to be felled the applicant will be made aware of the process. 

Page 24



Creator: Angus Whitburn Created on: 10/09/2021 Review Date: 
 

9.2.1.  The tree will then be replaced at the cost of Witney Town Council. This is Witney Town 

Council process to maintain its tree stock 

9.2.2. If an applicant wishes to assist in the purchase of a new tree purchase a more mature 

tree it is welcomed.  

9.2.2.1. The difference in cost will be invoiced to the applicant.  

 

10. Application Process 

10.1. Anyone wishing to make an application can source an application form online or at the 

Witney Town Council offices. 

10.2. The application form must then be submitted via email to facilities@witney-tc.gov.uk or via 

post to Witney Town Council, 51B Market Square, Witney OX28 6AG address to Facilities.  

10.3. An applicant will then be advised if their application has been accepted or reject and on 

what grounds. 

10.4. Communication will then be held with the applicant of location and tree species 

10.5. The applicant is then invoiced for payment which includes the tree, irrigation equipment, 

stake and tie, tree guard and work hours to plant. Ongoing watering is not included but will 

not be charged.  

10.6. The applicant can then be made aware of the planting date if they wish to attend. It is 

important this is not seen as a ceremonial event. 

10.7. The location, species, planting date, memorial information are all then all stored in the tree 

donation book and on the councils mapping software. Contact information is additionally 

stored on the councils mapping software.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25

mailto:facilities@witney-tc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



STRONGER COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 

Date:  Monday, 15 November 2021 

Title:  Tower Hill Bus Stop Improvements 

Contact Officer:  Project Officer - Nicky Cayley 

 

Background 

Oxfordshire County Council is currently holding £10,000 of Section 106 money from the 

Kingfisher Meadows development, which is designated for bus stop improvements at Tower 

Hill. An arrangement was made for Witney Town Council to progress this project and procure 

a bus shelter for the stop going into town-centre bound. 

The Project Officer obtained quotes for several types of shelter, with the Committee opting 

for a sedum roofed shelter. 

Committee and ward members consulted residents, having previously received 

correspondence expressing their concerns over a new shelter. Residents were not in favour 

of a shelter being installed, although they were amenable to a bench being installed. Their 

concerns were that the bus stop was not well used, and that the shelter would attract ASB 

and vandalism, becoming an eyesore.  

The Officer responsible for the shelter at Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) offered to speak 

to the residents to see if he could help assuage their concerns. 

Current Situation 

The OCC Officer contacted the Project Officer following his meeting with residents to explain 

that he had recognised some of the concerns. As an alternative solution, he is in favour of 

exploring the installation of a shelter along Burford Road, with the view that residents of 

Kingfisher Meadows would not need to cross a road to access it. He has spoken to Stagecoach 

to see if it would service a new stop – either in addition to the existing stop and the Tower 

Hill stop, or instead of the existing stop and/or Tower Hill. The current assumption is that all 

would be serviced at the current time but confirmation from Stagecoach is awaited. 

Environmental impact 

Having declared a Climate Change Emergency at its Council meeting on 26 June 2019 – with 

this in mind Councillors should have due regard to the environmental impact of any decisions 

they make with regard to its facilities and services it operates. 

By putting in a bus shelter the Council would be encouraging sustainable travel and the 

chosen sedum roof shelter would be of benefit to air quality and biodiversity.  

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



Risk 

In decision making Councillors should give consideration to any risks to the Council and any 

action it can take to limit or negate its liability.   

There could be reputational risk if the Council decides to recommend going ahead with the 

Tower Hill site. 

The final decision on this project will be made by the County Council’s cabinet which may 

agree or disagree with any recommendations made by the Town Council. 

Financial implications 

As the shelter will be funded by S106 contribution there are no financial implications. If the 

Council wishes to add cycle racks and a bin there will be additional costs and an on cost for 

bin collections. 

Recommendations 

Member are invited to note the report and consider the following: 

1. That, the decision on how to utilise the allocated funds to procure and install bus stop 

improvements at Tower Hill, in line with both authority’s climate priorities, is made by 

Oxfordshire County Council as the Highways Authority and keeper of the Section 106 

funds. 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



STRONGER COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 

Date:  Monday, 15 November 2021 

Title:  Oxfordshire Bus Service Improvement Plan 

Contact Officer:  Deputy Town Clerk – Adam Clapton 

 

Purpose of the Report 

To note the Oxfordshire Bus Service Improvement plan updates. 

Background 

Oxfordshire County Council conducted a consultation earlier this year to help inform a Bus Service 

Improvement Plan which had to be submitted as part of the Government’s National Bus Strategy.  

The Town Council formulated a response to this consultation at an extra-ordinary meeting of the 

Council held on 6th September. 

Current Situation 

Following the consultation, the County Council submitted its Bus Service Improvement Plan in October 

2021 and is awaiting the outcome of the Department for Transport’s assessment and what funds it 

will be awarded under the Strategy. 

The full submitted plan for Oxfordshire can be found here:  
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/public-transport/bus-service-
improvement-plan 
 

The Town Council’s Independent Parish Transport Representative (PTR), D Miles, has evaluated how 

the plan effects Witney and has summarised the following points: 

1. The revised date for buses to travel along Centenary Way is early 2022 when the road surface 

has been made suitable. There will be four buses an hour to Carterton and Oxford as well as 

the town centre and a Sunday service.  

2. There will be an ever-increasing frequency in buses from Witney to Oxford. The frequency of 

up to six buses an hour from West Oxfordshire to Oxford  will increase by 2031 to 10 an hour 

to central Oxford. It is envisaged that there will be two million extra passengers on these buses 

by this period.  

3. This increase in buses will include four services an hour from Eynsham Park and Ride to the 

Eastern Arc so that it will be much easier to get from Witney to East Oxford.  

4. The 64 Carterton to Swindon service will be restored and extended to Witney. This has long 

been campaigned for and is one of three cross border routes to be restored. There is a 

considerable amount of guaranteed funding which should interest commercial operators.  

Page 31

Agenda Item 8

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/public-transport/bus-service-improvement-plan
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/public-transport/bus-service-improvement-plan


One vehicle allocated to Witney and Carterton will go on to Swindon. 

5. There will be a much-simplified ticketing system with a countywide ticket and through 

ticketing the norm. There will be increasing use of technology.  

6. Minimum standards will be required for all bus stops and increased use of real time 

technology. The busier the stop the better the facilities but even minor stops will have 

hardstanding areas and distinctive pole/ flag  together with timetable case units. 

7. There will be six new demand response services in the county but only one is planned for West 

Oxfordshire and this is to connect with Burford not Witney.  

8. The current network of Supported Services is guaranteed till 2025 and will be reviewed in 

2024. This ensures that the Sunday service on the 233 is guaranteed for the next 3 years. 

The new feeder services from Standlake and Long Hanborough to Eynsham will start on  4 January. 
This will ensure that people in Stanton Harcourt, Northmoor, Bablock Hythe , Freeland and Church 
Hanborough will be able to get a connecting service to Witney. 
 
The PTR has advised that this is all positive news but has advised caution as the County Council may 

not receive the funding requested, resulting in some ambitions being scaled back. The Bus Service 

Improvement Plan is due to start in April 2022. 

Environmental impact 

There are no environmental impacts to Witney Town Council from the contents of this report. 

Risk 

In decision making Councillors should consider any risks to the Council and any action it can take to 

limit or negate its liability. 

Financial implications 

There are no financial implications pertaining from this report although the Committee should note 

point no.6 relating to minimum standards for bus stops. 

Recommendations 

Members are invited to note the report. 

 

Page 32



STRONGER COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 

Date:  Monday, 15 November 2021 

Title:  In-Bloom Competitions 

Contact Officer:  Communications & Community Engagement Officer - Polly Inness 

 

Purpose of the Report 

To consider future entry into the Britain In Bloom competition for the parks or wider town. 

The Council’s Open Spaces Strategy was formally adopted on 28th June 2021 and reference 

PO5 of the associated Action Plan (Modernising and Upgrading Our Parks & Open Spaces 

Service) is to ‘undertake a review of participating in the annual In Bloom competition.’ 

Background 

Witney falls within the Thames & Chilterns sub region of the Britain In Bloom campaign run 
in conjunction with the Royal Horticultural Society. Entries are invited from communities of 
all sizes, parks and neighbourhoods from across the region who wish to enhance their local 
environment and work together to improve the quality of life locally. The Thames & Chiltern 
In Bloom Award Criteria are included as Appendix 1 to this report along with the results across 
the region in 2019 indicating the level of involvement amongst other towns and parishes. 
 
Witney Town Council has been entering the Thames & Chiltern In Bloom competition with 

the support of community gardening groups for several years with varying degrees of success. 

Up to 2016, entry was for the whole town but from 2018 (following a two-year hiatus), on the 

advice of Grounds Contractors as individual entries in the Parks and Open Spaces Category, 

namely the Leys Park and Tower Hill Cemetery. The latter have gained better results, because 

there is not reliance on other levels of local council engagement, as the Town Council is 

custodians of these spaces, please see the In Bloom Working Party minute extract included 

as Appendix 2 to the report which refers.  

In addition, the Town Council runs a ‘Schools In Bloom’ competition during the summer, open 

to all primary schools across the town which is always well received. Previously, schools were 

awarded a budget of £350 to spend on a planting scheme within their own school grounds 

and had to provide a portfolio of the project but since 2018 wheelbarrows have been provided 

to the schools to plant with a smaller voucher of £50 to plant up, the barrows then being 

displayed at The Leys and a winner being picked by residents at Witney Carnival in July.  The 

Rotary Club of Witney sponsors one of the prizes and has been integral to the judging. 

 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



Current Situation 

In 2021 the town was awarded a Gold Award for The Leys Park, which retained its Gold status 

for a second year, notwithstanding a break due to the pandemic in between, and a Silver Gilt 

for Tower Hill Cemetery, on its first entry in the competition. The flower beds in these areas 

are planted and maintained by the Council’s Works Team, its Ground Contracts team and 

community gardening groups.  

The certificates and judges’ comments from this year, listing areas of achievement and 

development were circulated to councillors in September and are included as Appendix 3 for 

information.  

The Town Council publicises these achievements to help create a sense of community pride, 

but members must consider whether this outweighs the wider resource implications in 

entering the competition. Flower beds in the parks and in other areas of the town would 

continue to be maintained whether the town is entered for the national competition or not. 

Community Gardening has always gone hand in hand with the competitions and engagement, 

which was once strong has waned to a small number of groups more recently. Indication is 

that dedicated groups such as the Witney Horticultural Society, the Edible Gardens, Fairtrade 

Witney and Burwell Community Garden  group would be happy to continue gardening at 

Burwell and The Leys, respectively. The Committee should consider whether this important 

aspect of community engagement could still be achieved should the decision be made not to 

enter the national competition. 

Councillors may like to consider spending the In Bloom budget in a more focused and 

impactful way, while continuing to support Community and School gardeners, who do bring 

additional colour and alternative planting schemes to areas in the town, and who benefit from 

the experience as groups. Policy EE7 of the OSS refers, 

‘Ensure that Community Engagement is enshrined into all work and projects 

undertaken by WTC’ 

One option would be split the budget, retaining a larger sum to make a high impact difference 

to a ‘left behind area’. This could be a piece of infrastructure, accessibility improvements or a 

regeneration or biodiversity project (an example project is included as Appendix 4). This 

reflects the vision of the Town Council’s Open Spaces strategy,  

9.3 to, ‘deliver high quality public open spaces that meet local needs and aspirations’  
and four of the five key themes in 9.5, 
9.5.1. Modernising and upgrading our parks and open spaces. 
9.5.3. Improving and investing in our leisure provision.  
9.5.4. Improving and investing in our infra-structure.  
9.5.5. Working in the most effective and efficient manner. 

 
This would still qualify for entry to In Bloom if Councillors wished to enter the competition as 

the judges look for year on year improvements to areas, which bring enrichment and benefit 

Page 34



to residents and visitors. Therefore, it is an appropriate use of the budget. Using the budget 

in this impactful way rather than a scattergun approach, also addresses the delivery of the 

strategy’s vision, 

10.1.4.2. We will seek to provide a range of infra-structure aimed at all age groups 

and as many differing types of facility as is feasible. 

 

If councillors choose not to enter In Bloom, they might wish to consider a Community 

Engagement exercise instead, by creating a diverse focus group or panel of residents, rather 

than the appointed In Bloom judges to gather feedback on improvement works that the In 

Bloom budget has been used for each year. This could also be used to seek suggestions for 

future projects. 

Environmental impact 

There are opportunities to enhance the biodiversity across various areas of the town with 

bigger spend projects which could be designed to be more sustainable than a succession of 

annual flower planting schemes. 

Risk 

In decision making Councillors should consider any risks to the Council and any action it can 

take to limit or negate its liability. 

Financial implications 

The cost to the Council for providing summer planting schemes is included within the Grounds 

Maintenance Contract.  

Additional sums were added in recent years for the community and schools gardening 

challenges, to purchase equipment/infrastructure, to enter In Bloom and augment town-wide 

planting throughout the season, with additional hanging baskets, planters and emergency 

replanting when plants have failed. The annual budget now stands at £6,000. 

Other resources included Officer time spent co-ordinating the Town’s entry, producing a 

portfolio for the judges to support the entry, as well as managing volunteers throughout the 

year – and the administration when there was a In Bloom Working Party in place. 

With the budget for In Bloom already in place, there is no expectation of needing additional 

funds as suitably sized and costed projects would need to be chosen to come within that 

budget. That is not to say that funds taken from future years budgets could not be used to 

build on a project and improve upon it or make changes and adaptations to it going forward.  

Current costs 

 The Thames & Chiltern In Bloom entry fees were £25 for a green space under 1ha and £50 

for greenspaces over 1ha. 

Page 35



 Expenditure for the Schools In Bloom Competition and Community Gardening in the 

current year was £644.59 

Costs if changing In Bloom format to Big Impact project. 

The budget could be split to cover Community and Schools In Bloom gardening, which could 

include prizes for Witney Town Council led competitions and initiatives including wildlife and 

nature gardening and entry into the National In Bloom competition for individual parks etc. 

The remaining budget could be used to make an In Bloom based, big impact improvement 

(this could still be a community led project or include community gardeners and volunteers 

to drive the project). 

Recommendations 

Members are invited to note the report and consider the following: 

1. That a decision is taken on the merits of future entry in the Britain In Bloom competition, 

either as a town or for individual areas; and, 

 

2. That a task and finish group is established to consider the future of any such entry or 

future projects involving community gardening groups and schools, such as the suggested 

sustainable project. 

 

Page 36



1 
 

 

THAMES AND CHILTERNS IN BLOOM 2021 AWARDS 

Engage : Encourage : Recognise : Reward 

This last year has been like no other.  The In Bloom Communities have functioned in 
different ways and it seems increasingly unlikely that the competition will be able to continue 
in 2021 with the same style of judging for our cities, towns and villages as in previous years.  
The TCIB Committee has therefore decided, for this year only, to take a different approach.  
We wish to continue engaging with all our contacts, to encourage the projects you have 
been working on, to recognise your hard work and to reward our In Bloom Communities. 
 
To this end, we are expanding five of the most appropriate Regional Awards.  They are more 
relevant to the current situation and are more flexible in the way that you can present them 
and we are able to judge them.   
 

 The five awards are as follows, further details are provided below.   
 

o Community Covid-19 project   
o Conservation and wildlife 
o Involving children and young people 
o Managing the environment 
o Pride of place 

 

 Awards will be presented for current and ongoing projects, although these may have 
started in 2020 or in previous years.  Projects can be of any size, small or large, but 
must be nominated by the In Bloom organisation rather than by an individual.  
 

 The In Bloom organisation can submit up to 2 applications per award, with a 
maximum of 6 projects in total.  
 

 A fee of £25 will be charged per project i.e. a maximum of £150 for any entrant. 
 

 Entrants will be asked to submit a brief written submission based on guidance to be 
provided, along with a limited number of images, videos or other evidence to illustrate 
the entry.  Entry forms to register for the awards should be submitted by 31 May with 
a deadline of 30 June for submitting the application/s providing information on the 
project/s and accompanying evidence. 
 

 Small panels of judges will assess the projects based on the information provided by 
the entrants.  This will take place in July.  A virtual (Zoom) meeting may be held with 
the entrant to discuss the project or clarify any points.    
 

 There will be a winner for each of the five awards in the form of a plaque or trophy. 
 

 All entrants will receive a certificate and brief feedback.  

 

Page 37



2 
 

The Thames & Chilterns in Bloom 2021 Awards 
 
The descriptions and examples below are for guidance only.  You can interpret each Award 
in a way which best reflects your work within your community, provided that this links to the 
Bloom criteria of Horticulture, the Environment and Community. 

 
COMMUNITY COVID-19 PROJECT 
Projects within this award should be linked specifically to the pandemic.  Work on the entry 
may have started in 2020 and should be ongoing, continuing into 2021 or it may be a new 
project which you have just started this year.  We are interested in hearing what you have 
done to benefit your local community during the pandemic, for example, grow and share, 
helping the vulnerable, those with mental health issues or other impairments, encouraging 
people to garden or grow produce on allotments, providing practical support or improving  
well-being through engagement with the Bloom criteria.  We would like to hear who has been 
involved, how you have managed the work during the various lockdowns and restrictions 
and what has been achieved. 

 
CONSERVATION AND WILDLIFE 
Much has been said on how nature has benefitted people during their daily walks or from 
their own gardens. This may be an ongoing or a new project which you have been able to 
work on during the pandemic demonstrating your commitment to the protection and 

enhancement of the flora and fauna in your local environment. 

 
INVOLVING CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
Since we are unable to visit schools in 2021 and the Mark Mattock Schools Challenge will 
not take place, it is even more important that we recognise the work of children, young 
people and youth groups.  These may be a family of children, a school group or a community 
team who, for example, have carried out their own project or participated in a specific way 
within the Community Covid-19 Project. 

 
MANAGING THE ENVIRONMENT 
The issues relating to Climate Change are becoming an integral part of our daily lives.  What 
are you doing to commit to good, sustainable environmental practices in a changing climate?  
Again, this may be an ongoing project or it may be a new one. 

 

PRIDE OF PLACE 
There has definitely been more litter around with more people out and about.  How have you 
maintained your local environment and space, for example, keeping it clean, maintaining the 
landscaping, looking after the street furniture? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 38



3 
 

Parks, open spaces and cemeteries awards 
 

We will be offering awards for parks, open spaces and cemeteries exactly as in previous 
years, although judging arrangements may vary depending on circumstances in July.  Since 
it may not be possible to hold escorted visits, entrants may be asked to submit background 
information, for example on the management of and community involvement with the site.  
 
Entries are welcome from all types of green spaces, small and large, from ornamental 
gardens to country parks, pocket parks to cemeteries.  
 
Entry fees are £25 for a green space under 1ha and £50 for greenspaces over 1ha.  Entries 
should be received by 31 May with any background information requested to be provided by 
30 June. 
 
There will not be a RHS Certificate of Distinction in 2021, but Thames & Chilterns in Bloom 
will have an overall winner for this category.  
  

If you have questions about any of these awards, please contact us at: 
tandcinbloom@gmail.com 

 

Page 39

mailto:tandcinbloom@gmail.com


This page is intentionally left blank



  
Thames and Chilterns in Bloom - Parks & Open Spaces Assessment Criteria 

 

Version 2015-11-10 

Community Gold           9/10 Silver Gilt      7/8 Silver          5/6 Bronze          3/4 Cert. of Achievement 1/2 

Demonstrate community 
involvement and support. 
This includes fund raising an 
events programme and site 
development plans 

Excellent level of community 
involvement, communication, use 
of social media, internet.  Funding 
in place and being used. Inclusive 

programme covering diverse use 
as applicable to location. 

Excellent joint working with site 
owners/ authorities in place and 
active. Record to demonstrate 
successful implementation of 
projects or maintenance on site. 

Very good communications 
and involvement with the 
community. Events 
programme in place and 
active. Fundraising 
programme in place. 
A suitable record to evidence 
progress to improve or 
maintain the site. A very 
good working relationship 
with site owner/authority. 

Good communication takes 
place with the community. 
Fundraising takes place as 
needed.  Events have taken 
place and proposals exist for 
further events. 
Plans in place for continuing 
development of the group. 
Good and developing 
partnership with the site 
owners/authority. 

Satisfactory communication 
takes place with the 
community. Some events 
have taken place with plans in 
place for further events. 
Funding plans are being 
established.  
Partnership with owners 
/authorities is starting to 
develop. 
Future plans are being 
considered. 

Group formed and starting to 
develop plans for community 
activity to support the site. 
Some community 
communication has taken 
place. 
Funding plans are being 
considered and developed. 

Maintenance & 
Development 

                  9/10               7/8               5/6               3/4                 1/2 

Arboriculture 
Conservation 
Groundsmanship 
Horticulture 
As appropriate to the site 
and its purpose. 

Excellent standard of 
maintenance and development. 
There is a planned maintenance 
programme in place. All are 
appropriate to the site and its 
purpose. 

Very good standard of 
maintenance and 
development. 
All are appropriate to the 
site. 

Good standard of 
maintenance and 
development, as 
appropriate to the site. 
Plans are being developed to 
review standards. 

Maintenance is carried out to 
a satisfactory standard as 
appropriate to the site. 

Fair standard of maintenance 
is undertaken and plans are 
being developed to raise 
standards and or make it more 
appropriate to the site. 

Environment                   9/10               7/8               5/6               3/4                 1/2 

Litter, graffiti, condition of 
structures/buildings, use of 
the site. Scale of endeavour 
The site and buildings use 
interpretation and 
information and group 
objectives. 

Free from established litter and 
graffiti, property and furniture 
maintained to an excellent 
standard. High level of site use. 
Excellent interpretation if 
appropriate. Buildings all 
appropriate to the site. Excellent 
recycling rates/programmes. 

Nearly litter and graffiti free, 
property and furniture 
maintained to very good 
standard. Usage levels are 
high and very good 
interpretation is present if 
appropriate. Very good 
recycling rates/programmes.  

Many areas litter and graffiti 
free and furniture 
maintained to a good 
standard. Usage levels are 
good and good 
interpretation is available if 
appropriate. Good recycling 
rates/programmes. 

Levels of litter and graffiti are 
not intrusive and furniture 
maintenance is satisfactory. 
Plans for interpretation in 
place as appropriate to site. 
Satisfactory recycling takes 
place. 

Intrusive levels of litter and 
graffiti are present. Property 
and furniture maintenance is 
fair but under development. 
Plans to increase usage are 
being developed. Fair recycling 
takes place and is developing. 

P
age 41



  
Thames and Chilterns in Bloom - Parks & Open Spaces Assessment Criteria 

 

Version 2015-11-10 

 

P
age 42



Version	2016-12-14	PT	

 
 
RHS It’s Your Neighbourhood 
Participants’ Guidance Notes 
 
The Core Pillars 
 
The core pillars of It’s Your Neighbourhood identify its main values and main areas on which 
groups should focus their efforts and activities.  The core pillars are: 
 
- Community Participation (40%) 
- Environmental Responsibility (30%) 
- Gardening Achievement (30%) 
 
The percentage given after each pillar refers to how much each area accounts for when assessing 
a group/project’s benchmarking level. 
 
Introduction 
 
The suggestions that follow are examples of things that MAY be present in an ‘It’s Your 
Neighbourhood’ entry – they are NOT a list of things to be done or to be achieved! 
When you form an ‘It’s Your Neighbourhood’ group and begin work you should set your own goals 
which should be suited to your local needs - what follows below are ideas to help illustrate 
activities relevant to each pillar, not rules to be followed nor to-do lists to be ticked off. 
 
When deciding your goals you should consider whether these are realistic and manageable and 
whether the work is relevant to the core pillars. If you are a newly formed group, your first set of 
goals may relate to things such as forming a group, deciding on a project, consulting with the 
wider community and so on.  Then as the work of the group progresses so should the goals with 
the focus being increasingly on getting jobs done that move the project from initial ideas and 
planning to actual delivery and results.  The examples below are just suggestions and assessors 
will also consider where your group started, the challenges that you faced and how far you have 
come. 
 
As an It’s Your Neighbourhood group you have access to a variety of resources to support you and 
we strongly recommend you make use of those resources.  Some of those resources are provided 
by the Royal Horticultural Society (RHS) and can be accessed on line by visiting: 
http://www.rhs.org.uk, then following communities, our campaigns, it’s your neighbourhood. 
In addition, you also have access to the RHS’s team of gardening experts; simply send an e-mail 
with your question to advice@rhs.org.uk but please ensure you put BiBNA in the subject line as 
this is a service normally reserved for RHS members.  In addition to the support provided through 
the RHS, there is also your Region (Thames & Chilterns in Bloom) and there may also be a Bloom 
group in your area which could offer you advice and support (your regional co-ordinator would 
have details of Bloom groups). 

 
It’s Your Neighbourhood is part of the wider Britain in Bloom with the RHS initiative but it is not 
competitive; benchmarking levels are used to recognise and applaud the achievements of the 
participants as well as to provide them with some feedback and guidance for the future.  The 
assessors are there as mentors and friends – not as judges – and you should take advantage of 
their visit to get constructive feedback.  The assessors benchmark your achievements in the areas 

Page 43



Version	2016-12-14	PT	

of the core pillars by considering how much the you have already done and how much more you 
could do given your unique circumstances.   
 
Community Participation 
 
40% – 40 out of 100 total marks 
 
Community participation is about working together for the benefit of the local area and it may or 
may not involve participants in the physical work; community participation can also include 
fundraising, moral support, provision of facilities and resources, publicising activities and many 
other activities. 
 
There are no size limits – a group is more than one! Larger groups may sub-divide into smaller 
groups with particular objectives (i.e. involving children/young people; developing community 
gardening activities; providing refreshments, making leaflets/posters etc). A group may not have 
large numbers of active workers or “official” members but they may be engaging others in their 
various projects and activities on a casual, drop-in/drop-out basis.  In other words, groups will 
come in many sizes and have as many different structures; the key is that even if there are only 
one or two key players driving the project they are already engaging with other members of the 
community in some way or seeking ways in which to do so in the future. 
  
Examples of community participation are things such as: 
 
Being inclusive –the group is a part of the community and has an openness which enables any 
other member of the community to support, contribute to or have say in their work if they wish.  A 
group may have a specific “membership” (i.e. a young person’s group) and still be inclusive. 
 
Being representative – the people involved with the group’s projects and activities are 
representative of the diversity of the people in their area.  
 
Local ownership and direction – the decisions about what needs doing and how things are 
undertaken are taken by the community and the group at local level. 
 
Making a difference to local people – it is clear that what is happening has the support of local 
people and is improving aspects of daily life in that area. 
 
Partnership working – the group may also be working with any one or more of the following: Area 
Panels, Parish Councils, Neighbourhood Watch groups, Wildlife Watch groups, police/community 
support officers, residents’ associations, etc. as relevant. 
 
Getting support – the group has succeeded in or is working towards getting the support of their 
local council or councillor and businesses in the community, finding sponsors or sponsorship-in-
kind, securing grants or other funding, etc. 
 
Evidence of planning for the future – the group has shown they are thinking about and planning 
for ways to maintain the work they have already done and/or make even more improvements. 
 
Retaining local control – local people are involved with the planning and decision-making. 
 
Communities in areas where there are issues with anti-social behaviour or similar problems may 
develop partnerships with local police and community support officers. 
 

Page 44



Version	2016-12-14	PT	

In communities where the issues may relate to the lack of routine interaction between people, 
your group should consider how you can use It’s Your Neighbourhood to create opportunities for 
interaction and to create a sense of community. 
 
It does not matter what type of community participation takes place – only that it is positive and 
involves local people in the process of improving their area. 
 
Environmental Responsibility 
 
30% – 30 out of 100 total marks 
 
Environmental responsibility is about care for your local area and where possible minimising 
adverse impacts on the environment.  It may encompass aspects such as cleanliness of the streets 
and pavements or reducing use of natural resources. It is about the direct effects that people 
working at local level can achieve, and not about factors such as waste collection by the local 
authority. 
 
Examples of environmental responsibility are things such as: 
 
Efforts to promote responsible dog-ownership and reduce dog-fouling. 
 
Efforts to reduce littering, graffiti, fly-posting and fly-tipping and efforts to clean up areas 
degraded by such activities. 
 
Promotion of: use of peat-free compost, composting of green waste in community composting 
schemes, separation of waste in the local cemetery, minimising water wastage in plant containers, 
etc. 
 
Development of community green spaces, including the increased use of the spaces and 
developing the skills and involvement of users. 
 
Conservation activities which may include promotion of wildlife through installation of bird boxes, 
bat boxes, planting of wildlife friendly plants, etc. where relevant/applicable. 
 
Efforts to encourage a sense of local heritage through education and heritage-related 
projects/activities (i.e. tree trails, history leaflets, signage/interpretation boards etc.) 

 
Gardening Achievement 
 
30% – 30 out of 100 total marks 
 
The contents of this section will be completely dependent on the nature of your local area and 
should always be relevant and appropriate to your needs and to the wishes of the community.  At 
all stages there should be consideration given to good gardening practices that suit local needs.  
The gardening should enhance the locality for the community and should be within your ability to 
develop and manage over the medium to long term. 
 
Examples of good gardening practices are things such as: 
 
Good plant choices for the climate or soil, or which suit the heritage and local environment; 
balance of shrubs, perennials and annuals 
 
Appropriate quality of maintenance – good pruning, mulching, lack of weeds, etc. 
 

Page 45



Version	2016-12-14	PT	

Creativity –the planting used for the area shows originality and local flavour. 
 
Development of community gardening activities – developing areas in partnership with village 
halls, church groups, allotment societies, residents’ associations, etc. and/or undertaking group 
planting events for window boxes, hanging baskets, bulbs, wildflower areas, etc. 
 
Taking on the maintenance of neglected areas such as barren verges or waste ground. 
 
Assessment 
 
There is a total number of marks allocated to each section and the sections correspond to the 3 
core pillars of It’s Your Neighbourhood.  There are no sub-sections with allocated scores; the 
assessor evaluates the section as a whole. 
 
The items listed within each section are simply suggestions of things that you could/should be 
doing for that core pillar; you do not have to be doing all or even most of them to earn a top mark 
for the section.  The assessor needs to gauge how much has already been done against how much 
could be done by your group and under the conditions present.  The assessor will also consider if, 
in relation to the core pillar, you seem to be just starting out (Establishing) or if you have achieved 
something truly outstanding (Outstanding), or if you are somewhere on the spectrum in between 
(e.g. Improving, Advancing, Thriving). 

 
 
Levels of achievement – overall marks: 
 

Level Description Points 
Level 1 Establishing 0-35 
Level 2 Improving 36-52 
Level 3  Advancing 53-68 
Level 4  Thriving 69-85 
Level 5  Outstanding 86-100 

 

Page 46



 

 

 

 

2 0 1 9 R e s u l t s 

 

CITY 
Reading       Silver Gilt 

 
LARGE TOWN 
Chesham       Silver Gilt - Category Winner 
Newbury       Silver Gilt 
Witney       Silver 
Wokingham       Silver Gilt 
 
TOWN 
Amersham       Gold - Category Winner 
Henley       Gold 
Kidlington       Silver Gilt 
Wolverton & Greenleys     Silver Gilt 

 
SMALL TOWN 
Goring Gap       Gold - Category Winner 
Stony Stratford      Gold   
Twyford       Gold 

 
LARGE VILLAGE 
Watlington       Silver 

TOWN CENTRE 
Banbury       Silver Gilt - Category Winner 
Bicester       Silver Gilt 
Woodley       Silver 
 

  

RHS PARKS AND OPEN SPACES AWARDS 
Amersham - Memorial Gardens   Gold & National Certificate of Distinction 
Chesham - Lowndes Park    Silver Gilt 
Reading - Henley Road Cemetery  Silver Gilt 
Winkfield - King George V Recreation Ground Silver Gilt 
Witney - The Leys Recreation Ground  Gold 
 
REGIONAL AWARDS 
‘Inspiring Everyone to Grow’   Newbury 
‘Inspiring Everyone to Grow’   Wolverton & Greenleys 
‘Water: Too much or too little’   Chesham 
Business Involvement      Reading 
Community Involvement    Goring on Thames 
Conservation and Wildlife    Watlington 
Heritage      Banbury 
Horticulture      Bicester 
Involving Children and Young People  Henley on Thames 

Page 47



Managing the Environment    Henley on Thames 
Managing the Environment    Twyford 
Pride of Place     Kidlington 
 

JUDGES DISCRETIONARY AWARD 

This years recipient of the award for an outstanding contribution to Thames and Chilterns in Bloom 

is the Amersham Volunteers.    

MARK MATTOCK SCHOOL CHALLENGE AWARD 
 

Winner - The Colleton School, Twyford. 

Highly Commended 
Brushwood Junior School, Chesham; Goring C of E Primary School; Geoffrey Field Junior School, 
Reading; Russell Street First School, Stony Stratford; Badgemore Primary School,  Henley.   
 
Commended 
St Thomas More RC Primary School, Kidlington; The Holt School, Wokingham.  

  

________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page 48



Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Version 2016-12-14 PT 

 
Thames & Chilterns in Bloom - Parks and Open Spaces Marking sheet 

 
 
NAME OF ENTRY:         The Leys                                                                                                    LOCATION: Witney 
 

 
ASSESSORS:            Paul Almond & Nigel Bishop                              DATE:      29/07/2021                                   WEATHER CONDITIONS: Lovely Sunny Day 
 

 
SIZE/TYPE     Pocket Park/garden        Park                 Large Park                Country Park                       Cemetery                Church Yard             Commercial 
 
    

 
MARKS       Community                 Maintenance               Environment          TOTAL          AWARD       Gold        Silver Gilt        Silver         Bronze         Cert. of Ach. 
 
           

 

It was an absolute pleasure to visit The Leys again and see the park full of activity. The judges were impressed by the range of facilities on offer and the standards 
achieved by the Town Council staff, their contractors Continental Landscapes Ltd and the private concession holder running the Café, Tennis and crazy golf facilities. 
Well done to all involved. 
 

AREAS OF ACHIEVEMENT 
 

1. The community involvement throughout the park is a credit to all involved, evidence was plain to see including the major events such as the Witney Feast, 
and visiting fairs, to the formal and informal sports, to the play area consultation with local children, the churches together tree planting scheme, the school 
wheel barrow planting competition and the fairtrade planted troughs planted by volunteers. 
 

 
2. The completed First World War Centenary Memorial has created a beautiful spot for reflection and fitting reminder providing education to commemorate 

those who lost their lives in the conflict. The poppy and soldier bench is a special feature in the garden.  
 

 
3. The park was well presented with a high standard of horticultural and grounds maintenance which was appropriate for a Town Park well used by the public. 

  

x 

10 9 8 27 x 

P
age 51



 
4. The Arboricultural management is comprehensive with regular proactive inspections/surveys, any identified work recommendations were undertaken with 

applications made to the Districts Conservation Officer. Judges were impressed with the focus on successional planting and the new avenue of oaks should 
ensure tree cover is maintained for future generations to enjoy. 
  

 
5. The park was free from litter and there was a programme of repairs and maintenance of street furniture. The introduction of dual units for litter and recycling 

was a real improvement and it was noted that this was being well received and used by the public with little or no contamination experienced in the recycling 
sections of the bins. 
   

 

AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT 
 

1. Some areas of paving within the park will need attention to prevent trip hazards, the surface around the new War Memorial, tarmac path in the park outside 
the golf facility, and main path where the avenue of trees between the fairground site and the sports pitch area is heaving due to tree roots. The levels of the 
slabs on the entrance to play area needs raising where water puddles following inclement weather. 
  

 
2. Due to the success and volume of users in the play area, a solution to the exposed matting will need to be addressed, judges note this is already under 

consideration by the Town Council. 
 

 
3. Consideration to potential access to the play area by dogs should be considered, perhaps self-closing gates and no dog slabs could be fitted at each 

entrance? 
 

 
4. It was noted that there was no regular cricket team using the venue at the moment, such a shame as it is a perfect setting and well maintained square, 

judges hope the continued effort to develop a resident team will be achieved.   
 

 
5. The public toilets are an essential public facility for such a busy park and were nice and clean, unfortunately, on the day of judging the interior lights were not 

working. 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 52



 

 

Version 2016-12-14 PT 

Parks Category Scoring Matrix 

 

For each section individually: 

9-10 Gold 

7-8 Silver Gilt 

5-6 Silver 

3-4  Bronze 

1-2  Certificate of Achievement 

 

For overall/total marks: 

26-30  Gold 

20-25  Silver Gilt 

14-19  Silver 

8-13  Bronze 

0-7  Certificate of Achievement 

 

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Version 2016-12-14 PT 

Thames & Chilterns in Bloom - Parks and Open Spaces Marking sheet 

 

NAME OF ENTRY:         Tower Hill Cemetery                                                                                                  LOCATION:  Witney 

 

 
ASSESSORS:    Paul Almond & Nigel Bishop                                                           DATE: 29th July 2021                                             WEATHER CONDITIONS: Dry 
and Sunny 
 

 
SIZE/TYPE     Pocket Park/garden        Park                 Large Park                Country Park                       Cemetery                Church Yard             Commercial 
 
    

 
MARKS       Community                 Maintenance               Environment          TOTAL          AWARD       Gold        Silver Gilt        Silver         Bronze         C the ert. of 
Ach. 
 
    
 
  

This is a well maintained cemetery in a lovely peaceful and tranquil setting. Large mature beech trees add to the aesthetic value of this site. 
The two chapels are in good condition although one is used for storage, while the other is functional and also used on “Open Days” to house exhibitions. 
 

 

AREAS OF ACHIEVEMENT 
 

1. Working with the War Graves Commission to acknowledge the tragic death of an American Airman who lost his life in a freak accident involving the propeller of an 
aeroplane. A tree with a plaque has been planted opposite his grave. 

 
2. Heritage open days have been a great success with interpretation and notice boards highlighting the history of the site, which was formally a quarry. A nice gesture 
is a totally restored coffin bier over a hundred years old that is now used to display a number of items including a beautiful flower arrangement.    

 
3. The control of traffic movements within the cemetery, with the use of moveable bollards, restricting access to certain areas at different time of the day.  

4.  A good level of DDA compliance, given the undulating nature of the site.  This is very helpful to visitors.  
   

5. The regular inspection of headstones, as a duty of care, involving the relatives of the bereaved, where possible, to use a Topple Tester to test the stability of their 
relatives’ headstone and to take the necessary action if required. 

x 

8 8 9 25 x 

P
age 55



 
6.  The high standard of Topiary was excellent and noted as an attractive feature. The substantial reduction of the boundary laurel hedge to open up attractive views 
into the cemetery is to be commended. 
 

AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT 
 

1. There is an ageing tree population within the cemetery. As a duty of care these fantastic trees are inspected on a regular basis by a private company. As the trees 
are removed on safety grounds, they are replaced which is to be commended. Unfortunately some have failed and consideration to the actual location and watering 
needs be addressed for their successful establishment.   There is some thought that the fashion of carving trees stumps would be a suitable addition in this cemetery 
creating interesting features out of the remains of the felled trees.  

 
2. There were areas set aside for wild flowers, but these have not been successful this year. There could be several reasons for this, but we feel this type of project 
should be continued and encouraged. Perhaps the results may be due to the location. You may like to consider planting plugs or shade tolerant varieties?  

 
3  The Judges noted that the rose bed adjacent to the chapel was in need of weeding. 

 
4. It would be worth taking a close look at the climbing plants growing up the chapel wall in case the plants are causing damage to the stonework. 

  
5. It would be nice to try and encourage the small group of people who used to maintain the small flower beds adjacent to the chapel to return. They will need 
encouragement and reassurance if they are to come back to working in this environment.  

 

Parks Category Scoring Matrix 

 

For each section individually: 

9-10 Gold 

7-8 Silver Gilt 

5-6 Silver 

3-4  Bronze 

1-2  Certificate of Achievement 

 

For overall/total marks: 

26-30  Gold 

P
age 56



 

 

Version 2016-12-14 PT 

20-25  Silver Gilt 

14-19  Silver 

8-13  Bronze 

0-7  Certificate of Achievement 

 

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Example Project 

An example of a suitable project, Appendix 3, might be to improve the area for visitors to 

Windrush Cemetery, which is currently open to the elements and lacking in shelter when 

windy or wet. A pergola would help to address this and would also provide an area for people 

to gather before or after a funeral, while also serving as an area for people to sit and enjoy 

the peace and views over the town.     

The pergola could be of either wood or metal - a good quality of 3m x4m costs between £3000 

and £8000 and upwards. Other factors affecting cost are: 

 Size and style of pergola 

 Type and quality of materials 

 Time of year 

 Any prep work needed 

In general planning permission is not required for pergolas in private gardens, but this may 

be different in the case of a public access cemetery. 

Consideration may be given to the material least likely to be substantially damaged by 

vandalism. Using an open sided style gazebo or pergola will reduce the likelihood of attracting 

anti-social behaviour.  

The sides could be planted with fragrant, low maintenance shrubs, such as rosemary, lavender 

climbing roses lavender, and quickly establishing climbers used to give additional cover to the 

pillars. Benches including accessible ones that permit the placing alongside of wheelchairs 

and pushchairs could also be included along with a water butt and rain collection system. Any 

additional features that might support biodiversity, such as a natural water feature, insect 

homes or bat and bird boxes, could be included in the design and the pergola could double 

up as a memorial feature if plaques could be affixed.  

An information board that identifies the spires, chimneys and other landmarks visible on the 

skyline view from the cemetery would be a useful and attractive feature. The pergola could 

also serve as a memorial to those who have died in the pandemic or along with its planting 

scheme could serve as an installation to mark another cause or occasion such as the Queen’s 

Platinum jubilee.  

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



STRONGER COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 

Date:  Monday, 15 November 2021 

Title:  Communications & Community Engagement Report 

Contact Officer:  Communications & Community Engagement Officer - Polly Inness 

 

Background 

The Communications and Community Engagement Officer has been looking at simple ways of 

supporting Councillors and Community groups as an additional way to exchange news and 

gather feedback.  

Current Situation 

With the proliferation of yet more coffee outlets these ideas have the potential to boost sales 

at 1863 and offer a USP for the Corn Exchange experience. 

Crafty Coffee Morning 

Invite people who enjoy crafting in, once a month to get together over a coffee and show off 

what they are working on. The poppy making frenzy in 2018 occasionally offered 

refreshments in the foyer of the Corn Exchange and this was really popular for a group of like-

minded individuals. A corner of the coffee bar could be given over to this use, depending on 

how big the group gets. 

Councillor Coffee Mornings 

The timing of the suggestion is not intended to be insensitive, given recent events. This item 

had been discussed a few months ago and was always going to come up for consideration. 

Again, this could run as regularly as required – once a quarter or once a month being 

adequate. Councillors could arrange to attend in pairs or threes so that they are not using all 

the tables in the foyer. This would only be able to run on days when 1863 is open for business 

which currently precludes weekends, and is therefore, unfortunately, not practical for all 

councillors, but a useful asset for those that could avail themselves of it.  

Promotion of the Coffee Mornings 

This could be via small flyers or cards with a list of the event dates on the tables in 1863, that 

are reused as often as possible to save paper. The events could also be advertised on Social 

Media and our noticeboards. 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 10



 

Environmental impact 

Having declared a Climate Change Emergency at its Council meeting on 26 June 2019 – with 

this in mind Councillors should have due regard to the environmental impact of any decisions 

they make with regard to its facilities and services it operates. 

Paper flyers would be small but not laminated so that although they have a finite life they will 

not be taking years to break down as single use plastic.  

Risk 

In decision making Councillors should give consideration to any risks to the Council and any 

action it can take to limit or negate its liability.   

Financial implications 

There are no cost implications to running a coffee morning on days when the café is already 

operating, providing it does not become so popular and crowded as to be turning other 

regular business away.  

Recommendations 

Member are invited to note the report and consider the following: 

1. Approval to run community coffee mornings and in particular the Crafting Coffee morning  

in 1863.  

 

2. Whether members would like the option of hosting Councillor coffee mornings in 1863 

 

 

 

Page 62



Document is Restricted

Page 63

By virtue of the Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 s1



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

WITNEY TOWN COUNCIL 
 

 
Grant-aid to Local Organisations 

APPLICATION FORM 
(PLEASE COMPLETE THE FORM IN BLOCK CAPITALS) 

 

 

 
(1)     Your Organisation 

 
Name of Organisation 

Witney Twinning Association 

 
Registered Address* 
 

 
Hexagon House, Ave Four, Station Lane, Witney  

 
 

 
Post Code 

 

OX28 4BN 
 

Tel No. 

 
07970874418 

 
Contact Name 
 

John Thornton 

 
Position in Organisation 

Chairman 
 

(i.e. Chairman, Treasurer, Secretary) 

 
Registered Charity 

 
NO 

 
Registration No. 

 
 

 
What are the activities and/or aims of the organisation: 
The Twinning Association nurtures the relationship between our Twin Towns and encourages 
residence, businesses and schools to broaden their reach by interacting with their counterparts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
(2)     Membership 
 
How many members do you have? 

66 

Approximately how many of your  
members live in Witney? 

 
55 

 
Is membership restricted in any way? 

No 

 
What is your annual subscription, if any? 

£0 

Are you affiliated to a national organisation?  If 
so, which one? 

No 

  

 

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 11



Local venue/meeting place 

 
(3)     Grants 
 
Purpose for which the grant is required: To generate awareness of our association, bring in more 
members and continue to interact with our Twin Towns. 
 
 

 
Amount of grant applied for 

 

     £500.00 
 
Has your organisation previously applied to the Town Council for a grant? 

 
YES/NO 

 
If YES please give details 
 

 
 
Yes, for an annual contribution as well as bringing the 
member back together around remembrance 

 
Have you applied for a grant to any other body or organisation? 

 
NO 

 
If YES please give details 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
(4)     Financial 

 
 

 
(5)     Fundraising 
 
What fundraising events or activities will your organisation be holding this year? 
The main activities to raise fund will come from holding a couple of Dinners throughout the year 
as soon as it becomes safe where we will be holding a raffle that will generate funds. 
 

 
(6)     General 

 

 
Recipients of a grant from the Town Council should acknowledge the fact on all relevant literature. 
 
Please provide or attach any additional information which may assist the Council in reaching its 
decision. 
 

 

 
I certify that the above information is true to the best of my knowledge and belief, and that I am 
authorised to make this application for Grant-aid. 
 

 

 
Signed: John Thornton 

 

 
Date: 09/10/21 
 

 

 
Please return your completed application form to the address overleaf, for the attention of the TOWN CLERK 

 

For office use only:   
 
Previously Applied 

 

 
Acknowledged 

 
Grant Aid Awarded/Amount 

 

 
Y / N 

 
Chq No. 

 

 

Page 70



 

 

STRONGER COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 

Date:  Monday 16 November 2020 

Title:  Financial Report: (a) Revised Budget 2020/21 and Proposed 

Budget 2021/22 

Contact Officer:  Town Clerk/RFO – Sharon Groth 

 

Background 

Financial Regulation 3.2 requires each committee through the actions of the Policy, 

Governance & Finance Committee, to review its three-year forecast of revenue and capital 

receipts and payments.  Having regard to the forecast, it shall thereafter formulate and submit 

proposals for the following financial year to the Council not later than the end of November 

each year including any proposal for revising the forecast. 

The purpose of this report is to present to Members the revised budget for 2021/22 and the 

first draft revenue budget for 2022/23 – in the attached document.   

However, the Town Clerk would point out that, unfortunately, the RFO left the Council’s 

employment on 21 October, following a period of absence, and therefore she has had to 

resume the role of RFO and begin the budget process as a matter of urgency.  At this stage 

she has only been able to pull together some limited information regarding the revenue 

budget and is therefore not able to provide a full written report explaining each budget line 

as she did last year.  The Town Clerk plans to do a full presentation in early December in order 

to make sure Members are fully abreast of the financial situation of the Council when she has 

had the opportunity to fully review and scrutinise the spending to date and accounted for 

new aspirations.  She has therefore just covered a few key points below for information and 

a reminder. 

Recharge from Works Department and Central Support 
 
In order to get a true cost of its services, the Council recharges the total cost of its Works 
Department (Cost Centre 601) and Central Support (Cost Centre 602) across it.  For the Works 
Department this is done based on the weekly time sheets, and for the Central Support is based 
on the apportionment of responsibilities of the Officers. 
 
It should be noted when reviewing the accounts that the recharge from the Works 
Department and Central Support are yet to be made in this financial year and as the Town 
Clerk is using system generated reports it has not been possible to exclude these accounts 
from this summary.  Only when the budget for both these departments have been agreed by 

Page 71

Agenda Item 12



 

 

the Policy, Governance & Finance Committee will the Town Clerk be in the position to 
calculate the revised recharges and the estimates for 2022/23.   
 
Similarly with regard to the Grounds Maintenance Contract – [shown as 4891- Agency 
Services Recharge] – Members will note that the present contract has been extended to end 
on 30 September 2022 and a new specification is currently being drawn up to take account of 
the outcomes from the Open Spaces Strategy - so for the purposes of this report the current 
years figures have been retained with a 5% inflationary increase applied, in order to be able 
to make comparison on a like for like basis across the two years.  It is hoped that the Council 
will be able to make a decision on the future of its Grounds Maintenance Service in December. 
 
Members should also remember that with regard to patterns of income and expenditure, 
there will always be some variations over the course of the year and for that reason the 
Council works to annual budgets rather than monthly or quarterly. 
 
Obviously, the ongoing situation around the pandemic gives some cause for uncertainty and 
concern around budget setting for the Council’s various services.  A prudent approach has 
therefore been taken to not set unachievable targets for income.  Gradually Officers are 
seeing confidence in group gatherings, but the future is still very unpredictable at this stage. 
 
Format of the Council’s Base Revenue Budget 

With regard to the Stronger Communities budget, the Committee’s services are divided into 

2 base revenue cost centres, responsibilities as follows: 

Cost Centre Area Description 
 

402 Community Infrastructure This cost centre relates to the infrastructure 
found in the town like bus shelters, bins, 
benches, cycle racks, defibrillators, church 
clock, floral displays – and the maintenance of 
them. 
 

408 Community Activities This relates to community events like the 
advent fayre, remembrance Sunday parade, 
anniversaries, as well as supporting the Youth 
Council. 
 

This Committee also is responsible for the Christmas Lights Display in the town centre, the 

grant funding towards the Children & Youth provision, Carnival, supporting the Twinning 

Association although the accounting of this falls with the accounts presented to PGF under 

Cost Centre 407 – Grant & Donations (S137). 

Budget Parameters – Draft Estimates 2022-23 

The format of this report is quite straightforward; the first two columns relate to the original 

budget from 2020/21 against the actual figures for last year. The middle section of three 

columns relate to the current years original budget, actual expenditure year to date, the 

Page 72



 

 

projected budget to 31st March 2022. The remaining section of the report relates to the draft 

budget for 2022/23.  

Draft budgets are prepared on current activities and patterns of income and expenditure – in 

a normal year!  Obviously COVID-19 has impacted on the generation of income from the 

Council’s facilities significantly due to the lockdown earlier in the financial year and continues 

to be affected due to a rise in COVID cases.  In some areas additional expenditure has also has 

to be incurred. 

The Committee’s revenue budget growth items for 2022/23, and its capital/special revenue 

projects programme for 2022/23 and beyond will be dealt with via a separate report, if time 

permits, if not it will be referred to PGF, based on current requests.   

Revenue Budget Summary 

The Base Revenue Budget for this Committee is summarised on page one of the attached 

schedules.   

At this stage it is pointless summarising the end result due to the above as we are not 

comparing like for like, as well as several unknowns.  The reports give the detail and Members 

will be able to ask questions either ahead or at the meeting. 

Environmental impact 

Having declared a Climate Change Emergency at its Council meeting on 26 June 2019 – with 

this in mind Councillors should have due regard to the environmental impact of any decisions 

they make with regard to its facilities and services it operates.  

As mentioned in the introduction the Council will be undertaking a root and branch review of 

its grounds maintenance contract.  By reviewing the grounds maintenance contract this will 

enable the Council to take into consideration greener measurers in order to work towards it 

objective for carbon neutrality by 2028.  This, along with the budget allocated to Climate 

Emergency should help to facilitate projects yet to be identified in the Council’s strategic plan 

which will be drafted early in the new year. 

Risk 

In decision making Councillors should give consideration to any risks to the Council and any 

action it can take to limit or negate its liability.   

All the Council’s Committees receive financial reports in order to carry out its checks and 

balances. The Town Clerk has approached the budget with prudence so as accurate budget 

as possible can be set.  Obviously the impact of losing the RFO is being assessed and the Town 

Clerk is doing her best in order to present information to Committees at an early stage in the 

budget setting cycle – but hopes to be in a position to do a full presentation in early December 

to ensure all Members fully understand the financial position of the Council and its aspirations 

for the coming financial year, and the impact it has on the Council Tax Payers of Witney. 

Page 73



 

 

The Council Officers continue to keep under review the guidance and regulations relating to 

COVID-19 in order to safeguard staff and the public from contracting the virus – this may 

result in additional unplanned expenditure.   

Financial implications 

This report forms part of the Council’s mechanisms for budgetary control, as it enables 

income and expenditure incurred to be reviewed and to be compared with the Council’s 

budgets. 

Recommendations 

Members are invited to note the report and consider the revised base revenue budget for 

2021/22 and the estimated base revenue budgets for 2022/23, as detailed in the draft 

estimates be approved – subject to any further adjustments necessary. 

 

 

Page 74



WITNEY TOWN COUNCIL12/11/2021

15:21

Page 1

Note: Witney Town Council - Stronger Communities Committee - DRAFT ~ REV 21/22 & EST 22/23

Annual Budget - By Committee (Actual YTD Month 7)

Last Year 2020-21 Current Year  2021-22 Next Year 2022-23

Total Actual YTD Projected CommittedBudget Actual Agreed EMR Carried 
Forward

Stronger Communities

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE402

Total Income 0 12,863 12,863 00 1,121 0 0 0

Overhead Expenditure 325,915 54,198 230,317 0290,204 267,116 236,505 0 0

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve (325,915) (41,335) (217,454)(290,204) (265,995) (236,505)

COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES408

Overhead Expenditure 65,766 -728 8,500 062,098 50,331 12,500 0 0

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve (65,766) 728 (8,500)(62,098) (50,331) (12,500)

Expenditure

Stronger Communities - Income

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

0

391,681

(391,681)

12,863

53,469

(40,606)

12,863

238,817

(225,954)

0

0

0

352,302

(352,302)

1,121

317,447

(316,325)

0

249,005

(249,005)

0

0

0

0

Expenditure

Total Budget Income

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

0

391,681

(391,681)

12,863

53,469

(40,606)

12,863

238,817

(225,954)

0

0

0

352,302

(352,302)

1,121

317,447

(316,325)

0

249,005

(249,005)

0

0

0

0

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



WITNEY TOWN COUNCIL12/11/2021

15:21

Page 1

Note: Witney Town Council - Stronger Communities Committee - DRAFT ~ REV 21/22 & EST 22/23

Annual Budget - By Committee (Actual YTD Month 7)

Last Year 2020-21 Current Year  2021-22 Next Year 2022-23

Total Actual YTD Projected CommittedBudget Actual Agreed EMR Carried 
Forward

Stronger Communities

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE402

1052 EXPENSES RECOVERED 0 1,208 1,208 00 621 0 0 0

1170 GRANTS RECEIVED 0 9,355 9,355 00 500 0 0 0

1171 DONATIONS RECEIVED 0 2,300 2,300 00 0 0 0 0

Total Income 0 12,863 12,863 00 1,121 0 0 0

4001 SALARIES 750 0 0 00 635 0 0 0

4002 ER'S NIC 0 0 0 00 5 0 0 0

4003 ER'S SUPERANN 0 0 0 00 15 0 0 0

4013 RENT PAID 5 0 5 05 0 5 0 0

4014 ELECTRICITY 800 524 1,000 0750 925 1,000 0 0

4017 CONTRACT CLEAN/WASTE 4,000 605 4,000 04,100 3,676 4,000 0 0

4025 INSURANCE 125 112 112 0130 112 120 0 0

4035 BUS SHELTER MAINTENANCE 2,000 0 2,000 03,800 0 2,000 0 0

4036 PROPERTY MAINTENANCE 2,630 150 2,630 03,630 10 2,630 0 0

4037 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 3,000 0 3,000 03,000 1,847 3,000 0 0

4039 HORTICULTURE 750 149 750 0750 0 750 0 0

4040 ARBORICULTURE 29,750 10,040 29,750 024,550 13,800 19,000 0 0

4066 TREE REPLACEMENT 8,000 2,447 8,000 06,000 2,090 4,000 0 0

4067 Tree Survey 6,250 1,926 6,250 05,000 3,750 5,000 0 0

4166 DEFIBRILLATOR EXPENDITURE 2,500 1,019 2,500 02,200 967 2,500 0 0

4200 STREET FURNITURE 0 3,128 3,128 00 1,713 0 0 0

4205 CLIMATE EMERGENCY 25,000 0 25,000 010,000 0 15,000 0 0

Continued on next page

P
age 77



WITNEY TOWN COUNCIL12/11/2021

15:21

Page 2

Note: Witney Town Council - Stronger Communities Committee - DRAFT ~ REV 21/22 & EST 22/23

Annual Budget - By Committee (Actual YTD Month 7)

Last Year 2020-21 Current Year  2021-22 Next Year 2022-23

Total Actual YTD Projected CommittedBudget Actual Agreed EMR Carried 
Forward

4210 CHURCH CLOCK 3,000 0 3,000 01,500 0 1,500 0 0

4215 IN BLOOM - INC SCHOOLS CHALLEN 8,000 685 8,000 014,800 625 6,000 0 0

4491 TFR TO EARMARKED RES 0 0 0 00 39,100 0 0 0

4495 TFR FROM EARMARKED R -29,500 -29,500 -29,500 0-18,150 -18,150 0 0 0

4888 O/S STAFF RCHG 73,887 0 0 045,293 46,493 0 0 0

4890 O/S O'HEAD RCHG 11,601 0 0 08,321 7,286 0 0 0

4891 AGENCY SERVICES RECHARGE 150,692 62,913 150,692 0152,727 131,641 160,000 0 0

4892 C/S STAFF RCHG 12,675 0 0 08,508 12,293 0 0 0

4893 C/S O'HEAD RCHG 0 0 0 03,290 3,906 0 0 0

4990 CONTRN TO CCTV SCH. 10,000 0 10,000 010,000 10,000 10,000 0 0

5199 Depreciation Charge to Service 0 0 0 00 4,378 0 0 0

Overhead Expenditure 325,915 54,198 230,317 0290,204 267,116 236,505 0 0

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve (325,915) (41,335) (217,454)(290,204) (265,995) (236,505)

COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES408

4103 GRANT YOUTH COUNCIL 500 0 500 0500 18 500 0 0

4109 BLUE PLAQUES 1,000 0 1,000 01,000 0 1,000 0 0

4141 EVENTS 11,000 272 8,000 012,500 646 11,000 0 0

4491 TFR TO EARMARKED RES 0 0 0 00 1,000 0 0 0

4495 TFR FROM EARMARKED R -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 0-1,000 -1,000 0 0 0

4892 C/S STAFF RCHG 54,266 0 0 035,013 32,844 0 0 0

4893 C/S O'HEAD RCHG 0 0 0 014,085 16,725 0 0 0

5199 Depreciation Charge to Service 0 0 0 00 98 0 0 0

Overhead Expenditure 65,766 -728 8,500 062,098 50,331 12,500 0 0

Continued on next page

P
age 78



WITNEY TOWN COUNCIL12/11/2021

15:21

Page 3

Note: Witney Town Council - Stronger Communities Committee - DRAFT ~ REV 21/22 & EST 22/23

Annual Budget - By Committee (Actual YTD Month 7)

Last Year 2020-21 Current Year  2021-22 Next Year 2022-23

Total Actual YTD Projected CommittedBudget Actual Agreed EMR Carried 
Forward

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve (65,766) 728 (8,500)(62,098) (50,331) (12,500)

Expenditure

Stronger Communities - Income

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

0

391,681

(391,681)

12,863

53,469

(40,606)

12,863

238,817

(225,954)

0

0

0

352,302

(352,302)

1,121

317,447

(316,325)

0

249,005

(249,005)

0

0

0

0

Expenditure

Total Budget Income

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

0

391,681

(391,681)

12,863

53,469

(40,606)

12,863

238,817

(225,954)

0

0

0

352,302

(352,302)

1,121

317,447

(316,325)

0

249,005

(249,005)

0

0

0

0

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Public Benches - West Oxfordshire District Council Requests
	High Street - Bench location suggestions
	Bench Proposal - Market Sq. Witney

	6 Open Spaces Infrastructure
	Enc. 1 for Open Spaces Infrastructure
	Enc. 2 for Open Spaces Infrastructure

	7 Tower Hill Bus Stop Improvements
	doc04121220211109155200

	8 Oxfordshire Bus Service Improvement Plan
	9 In-Bloom Competitions
	Appendix 1a
	Appendix 1b
	Appendix 1c
	Appendix 1d
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3a
	Appendix 3b
	Appendix 4

	10 Communications & Community Engagement Report
	Witney Forum Meeting Notes - 14th September 2021

	11 Grant Aid to Local Organisations
	12 Budget
	STRONGER COMMUNITIES DRAFT BUDGET SUMMARY
	STRONGER COMMUNITIES DRAFT BUDGET


